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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015

(In thousands)
June 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
ASSETS (unaudited)
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,487 $ 4,177
Trade receivables — net of allowance for uncollectible accounts — 2016 — $1,498 and 2015 — $1,297 76,792 70,292
Employee receivables 165 217
Other receivables 4,742 6,799
Inventories 109,858 105,999
Prepaid expenses 7,829 5,634
Prepaid income taxes 3,044 2,955
Deferred income tax assets 7,017 7,025
Income tax refund receivables 43 905
Total current assets 219,977 204,003
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Land and land improvements 19,400 19,307
Buildings 139,140 136,595
Manufacturing equipment 166,034 158,775
Furniture and fixtures 42,478 39,301
Leasehold improvements 29,267 27,561
Construction-in-progress 31,795 26,292
Total property and equipment 428,114 407,831
Less accumulated depreciation (151,628) (140,053)
Property and equipment — net 276,486 267,778
OTHER ASSETS:
Intangible assets:
Developed technology — net of accumulated amortization — 2016 — $44,401 and 2015 — $38,497 76,111 69,861
Other — net of accumulated amortization — 2016 — $28,569 and 2015 — $26,603 40,587 39,493
Goodwill 187,034 184,472
Other assets 14,770 13,121
Total other assets 318,502 306,947
TOTAL $ 814,965 $ 778,728

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements. (continued)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015
(In thousands)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt
Advances from employees

Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

LIABILITIES RELATED TO UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PAYABLE

DEFERRED CREDITS

OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 5, 9, 10, and 13)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Preferred stock — 5,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015; no shares issued

Common stock, no par value; shares authorized — 100,000; issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2016 - 44,318
and December 31, 2015 - 44,267

Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

TOTAL

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

June 30, 2016

December 31, 2015

(unaudited)

31,286 $ 37,977
40,196 37,846
10,000 10,000
473 589
3,138 1,498
85,093 87,910
221,719 197,593
11,024 10,985
768 768
9,103 8,500
2,635 2,721
4,633 4,148
334,975 312,625
200,015 197,826
285,405 273,764

(5,430) (5,487)
479,990 466,103
814,965 $ 778,728
(concluded)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands, except per share amounts - unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

NET SALES $ 151,071 $ 138,082 289,148 $ 267,659
COST OF SALES 84,217 77,196 162,193 151,390
GROSS PROFIT 66,854 60,886 126,955 116,269
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Selling, general and administrative 43,653 39,321 85,358 76,206

Research and development 11,529 9,202 22,116 18,874

Contingent consideration expense 91 121 193 243

Total operating expenses 55,273 48,644 107,667 95,323

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 11,581 12,242 19,288 20,946
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):

Interest income 16 79 25 132

Interest expense (1,768) (1,713) (3,097) (3,287)

Other income (expense) — net 33 (85) (447) 195

Other expense — net (1,719) (1,719) (3,519) (2,960)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 9,862 10,523 15,769 17,986
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 2,572 3,122 4,128 5,411
NET INCOME $ 7,290 $ 7,401 11,641 $ 12,575
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Basic $ 0.16 $ 0.17 0.26 $ 0.29

Diluted $ 0.16 $ 0.17 0.26 $ 0.28
AVERAGE COMMON SHARES:

Basic 44,308 44,055 44,297 43,880

Diluted 44,703 44,517 44,647 44,332

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands - unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Net income $ 7,290 $ 7,401 $ 11,641 $ 12,575
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Interest rate swap (152) 98 (881) (800)
Less income tax benefit (expense) 59 (38) 343 311
Foreign currency translation adjustment (423) 702 805 (1,609)
Less income tax benefit (expense) (120) (33) (209) 73
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (636) 729 58 (2,025)
Total comprehensive income $ 6,654 8,130 $ 11,699 $ 10,550

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands - unaudited)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 11,641  $ 12,575
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 19,705 18,256
Losses on sales and/or abandonment of property and equipment 44 53
Write-off of patents and intangible assets 90 14
Acquired in-process research and development 100 —
Amortization of deferred credits (85) (85)
Amortization of long-term debt issuance costs 521 494
Deferred income taxes 141 383
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 12 (1,420)
Stock-based compensation expense 1,410 1,085
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Trade receivables (6,459) (2,793)
Employee receivables 51 20
Other receivables 2,126 942
Inventories (1,403) 166
Prepaid expenses (2,226) (631)
Prepaid income taxes (118) (43)
Income tax refund receivables 872 (78)
Other assets (762) (2,887)
Trade payables (5,147) 5,222
Accrued expenses 3,039 4,475
Advances from employees (119) 262
Income taxes payable 1,620 2,909
Deferred compensation payable 603 822
Other long-term obligations (212) 641
Total adjustments 13,803 27,807
Net cash provided by operating activities 25,444 40,382
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures for:
Property and equipment (21,222) (25,366)
Intangible assets (989) (875)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions — 2,017
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment — 6
Proceeds from sale of cost method investment 1,089 —
Cash paid in acquisitions, net of cash acquired (22,800) (2,250)
Net cash used in investing activities (43,922) (26,468)
See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements. (continued)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands - unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Contingent payments related to acquisitions
Payment of taxes related to an exchange of common stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Beginning of period

End of period

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest (net of capitalized interest of $194 and $185, respectively)

Income taxes

Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable

Contingent receivable received in exchange for sale of cost method investment

Acquisition purchases in accrued expenses

Merit common stock surrendered (0 and 166 shares, respectively) in exchange for exercise of stock options

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2015
791 $ 5,144
93,812 65,339
(69,687) (80,056)
(12) 1,421
(183) (180)
— (660)
24,721 (8,992)
67 (175)
6,310 4,747
4,177 7,355
10,487 $ 12,102
2912 $ 3,279
1,580 $ 2,209
1,497 $ 2,352
681 $ =
— 3 1,500
— 3 3,317
(concluded)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation. The interim consolidated financial statements of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. ("Merit," "we" or "us") for the three and six-month
periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 are not audited. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements for unaudited
interim periods and, consequently, do not include all disclosures required to be made in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In the opinion of our management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and our results of operations
and cash flows for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. The results of operations for the three and six-month periods ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full-year period. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

2. Inventories. Inventories at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2016 2015
Finished goods $ 52,997 $ 59,170
Work-in-process 12,703 8,540
Raw materials 44,158 38,289
Total $ 109,858 $ 105,999

3. Stock-Based Compensation. Stock-based compensation expense before income tax expense for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and
2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Cost of goods sold $ 141  $ 109 $ 264 $ 202
Research and development 54 32 96 59
Selling, general and administrative 591 424 1,050 824
Stock-based compensation expense before taxes $ 786 $ 565 $ 1,410 $ 1,085

As of June 30, 2016, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, net of expected forfeitures, was approximately
$8.6 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.61 years.

During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016, we granted awards representing 220,875 and 784,375 shares of our common stock, respectively.
During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, we granted awards representing 150,000 and 596,800 shares of our common stock, respectively.
We use the Black-Scholes methodology to value the stock-based compensation expense for options. In applying the Black-Scholes methodology to the
options granted during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the fair value of our stock-based awards granted was estimated using the
following assumptions for the periods indicated below:

Six months ended June 30,

2016 2015
Risk-free interest rate 1.25% - 1.40% 1.53% - 1.57%
Expected option life 5.0 5.0
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Expected price volatility 36.50% - 37.06% 34.00% - 35.11%

For purposes of the foregoing analysis, the average risk-free interest rate is determined using the U.S. Treasury rate in effect as of the date of grant, based on
the expected term of the stock option. The expected term of the stock options is determined using the historical exercise behavior of employees. The expected
price volatility is determined using a weighted average of daily historical
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volatility of our stock price over the corresponding expected option life and implied volatility based on recent trends of the daily historical volatility.
Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period, which corresponds to the related vesting period.

4. Earnings Per Common Share (EPS). The computation of weighted average shares outstanding and the basic and diluted earnings per common share for
the following periods consisted of the following (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Six Months
Net Per Share Net Per Share
Income Shares Amount Income Shares Amount
Period ended June 30, 2016:
Basic EPS $ 7,290 44,308 $ 0.16 $ 11,641 44,297 $0.26
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 395 350
Diluted EPS $ 7,290 44,703 $ 0.16 $ 11,641 44,647 $0.26
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common
stock equivalents as the impact was anti-dilutive 1,207 1,093
Period ended June 30, 2015:
Basic EPS $ 7,401 44,055 $ 0.17 $ 12,575 43,880 $ 0.29
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 462 452
Diluted EPS $ 7,401 44,517 $ 0.17 $ 12,575 44,332 $ 0.28
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common
stock equivalents as the impact was anti-dilutive 529 456

5. Acquisitions and Strategic Investments. On February 4, 2016, we purchased the HeERO®Graft device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc., a
developer of medical devices based in Kennesaw, Georgia ("CryoLife"). The purchase price was $18.5 million, which was paid in full during the first quarter
2016. We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination. The purchase price was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Assets Acquired
Inventories 2,455
Fixed Assets 290
Intangibles
Developed Technology 12,100
Trademarks 700
Customer Lists 400
Goodwill 2,555
Total assets acquired 18,500

We are amortizing the developed HeroGraft technology asset over ten years, the related trademarks over 5.5 years, and the associated customer lists over 12
years. The weighted average life of the intangible HeROGraft assets acquired is approximately 9.82 years. Acquisition-related costs related to the HeROGraft
device and other related assets during the six months ended June 30, 2016, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income, were not material. The results of operations related to this acquisition have been included in our
cardiovascular segment since the acquisition date. During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016, our net sales of the products acquired from
CryoLife were approximately $2.1 million and $3.4 million, respectively. It is not practical to separately report the earnings related to the

8
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products acquired from CryoLife, as we cannot split out sales costs related to those products, principally because our sales representatives are selling multiple
products (including the HeROGraft device) in the cardiovascular business segment. The pro forma consolidated results of operations acquired from CryoLife
are not presented, as we believe the pro forma financial effect of the transaction is not material.

On January 20, 2016, we paid $2.0 million for 2.0 million preferred limited liability company units of Cagent Vascular, LLC, a medical device company
("Cagent"). During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we paid $500,000 for an additional 500,000 preferred limited liability company units of Cagent.
Our total purchase price paid for the Cagent preferred limited liability company units as of June 30, 2016, which represents an ownership interest of
approximately 18.6% of the Cagent, has been accounted for at cost.

On December 4, 2015, we entered into a license agreement with ArraVasc Limited, an Irish medical device company, for the right to manufacture and sell
certain percutaneous transluminal angioplasty balloon catheter products. As of December 31, 2015, we had paid $500,000 in connection with the license
agreement. During the three-month period ended March 31, 2016, we paid an additional $500,000 as certain milestones set forth in the license agreement
were met during that period. During the three-month period ended June 30, 2016, we paid an additional $500,000 as certain milestones set forth in the license
agreement were met during that period. We are obligated to pay an additional $500,000 if additional milestones set forth in the license agreement are reached.
We accounted for the transaction as an asset purchase and intend to amortize the license agreement intangible asset over a period of 12 years.

On July 14, 2015, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Quellent, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Quellent"), for superabsorbent
pad technology. The purchase price for the asset was $1.0 million, payable in two installments. We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination.
The first payment of $500,000 was paid as of December 31, 2015, and the second payment of $500,000 was recorded as an accrued liability as of December
31, 2015 and paid in the first quarter of 2016. We also recorded $270,000 of contingent consideration related to royalties payable to Quellent pursuant to the
asset purchase agreement as of December 31, 2015. The sales and results of operations related to this acquisition have been included in our cardiovascular
segment since the acquisition date and were not material. The purchase price was allocated as follows: $1.21 million to a developed technology intangible
asset and $60,000 to goodwill as of December 31, 2015. We intend to amortize the developed technology intangible asset over 13 years. The pro forma
consolidated results of operations are not presented, as we believe the pro forma financial effect of the transaction is not material.

The goodwill arising from the acquisitions discussed above consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale we hope to achieve from combining the
acquired assets and operations with our historical operations (see Note 12). The goodwill recognized from these acquisitions is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

6. Segment Reporting. We report our operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of
cardiology and radiology medical device products which assist in diagnosing and treating coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-
vascular diseases and includes embolotherapeutic, cardiac rhythm management ("CRM"), and electrophysiology ("EP") devices. Our endoscopy segment
consists of gastroenterology and pulmonology medical device products which assist in the palliative treatment of expanding esophageal, tracheobronchial and
biliary strictures caused by malignant tumors. We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on operating income.

Financial information relating to our reportable operating segments and reconciliations to the consolidated totals for the three and six-month periods ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Revenues
Cardiovascular $ 145,525 $ 132,789 $ 278,069 $ 257,552
Endoscopy 5,546 5,293 11,079 10,107
Total revenues $ 151,071 138,082 $ 289,148 $ 267,659
Operating income
Cardiovascular 10,880 11,258 17,529 19,327
Endoscopy 701 984 1,759 1,619
Total operating income 11,581 12,242 19,288 20,946
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7. Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In April 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update
(“ASU”) No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which amends certain aspects of the FASB’s new revenue standard, ASU No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The core principle of the guidance in Topic 606 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. The amendments in this ASU clarify the following two aspects of Topic 606: identifying performance obligations and the licensing
implementation guidance, while retaining the related principles for those areas. The standard should be adopted concurrently with adoption of ASU No. 2014-
09 which is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. We are assessing the impact this new standard is anticipated to have
on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2016-09 requires companies to
record excess tax benefits and deficiencies in income rather than the current requirement to record them through equity. ASU 2016-09 also allows companies
the option to recognize forfeitures of share-based awards when they occur rather than the current requirement to make an estimate upon the grant of the
awards. ASU 2016-09 is effective for public companies for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within that
reporting period. Early adoption of ASU 2016-09 will be permitted in any interim or annual period, with any adjustments reflected as of the beginning of the
fiscal year of adoption. We are assessing the impact ASU 2016-09 is anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, which eliminates the current tests for lease classification under U.S. GAAP and requires
lessees to recognize the right-to-use assets and related lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases greater than one year in duration. ASU 2016-02 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2016-02
provides that lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective
transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The
modified retrospective approach would not require any transition accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. Lessees
and lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition approach. We are assessing the impact ASU 2016-02 is anticipated to have on our consolidated
financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities, which amends the guidance regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments. Changes to the current guidance primarily
affect the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. In addition, ASU 2016-01 clarifies guidance related to the valuation allowance assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from
unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early
adoption is not permitted except for the provision to record fair value changes for financial liabilities under the fair value option resulting from instrument-
specific credit risk in other comprehensive income. Upon adoption of ASU 2016-01, an entity should apply the amendments by means of a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the balance sheet at the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. We are assessing the impact ASU 2016-01 is
anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes,
which will require deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities to be presented as noncurrent within a classified balance sheet. ASU 2015-17 simplifies the
current guidance which requires an entity to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified balance
sheet. The current requirement that deferred tax assets and liabilities of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a single amount is not
affected. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those
annual periods. Earlier application is permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period, and ASU 2015-17 may be applied
either prospectively to all deferred tax assets and liabilities or retrospectively to all periods presented. We have elected not to early adopt ASU 2015-17, and
we are evaluating whether to apply the provisions prospectively or retrospectively upon adoption. We do not presently anticipate that the adoption of ASU
2015-17 will have a material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. ASU 2015-11 requires that inventory be measured at the lower of
cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. Inventory measured using last-in, first-out or the retail inventory method are excluded from the scope of ASU 2015-
11 which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not anticipate that the
implementation of ASU 2015-11 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

10
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In May 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidance amending the FASB Accounting Standards Codification and creating a new Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The new guidance clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for U.S. GAAP
applicable to revenue transactions. This guidance provides that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The existing industry
guidance will be eliminated when the new guidance becomes effective and annual disclosures will be substantially revised. Additional disclosures will also be
required under the new standard. In July 2015, the FASB approved a proposal that extended the required implementation date one year to the first quarter of
2018 but also would permit companies to adopt the standard at the original effective date of January 1, 2017. Implementation of the new standard may be
either through retrospective application to each period from the first quarter of 2016 or with a cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption in 2018. We are
assessing the impact this new standard is anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.

8. Income Taxes. Our overall effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was 26.1% and 29.7%, respectively, which resulted in a
provision for income taxes of $2.6 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Our overall effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and
2015 was 26.2% and 30.1%, respectively, which resulted in a provision for income taxes of $4.1 million and $5.4 million, respectively. The decrease in the
effective income tax rate for both periods, when compared to the prior year periods, was due primarily to the reinstatement of the federal research and
development credit and a higher mix of earnings from our foreign operations, which are generally taxed at lower rates than our U.S. operations.

9. Long-term Debt. We entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated December 19, 2012, with the lenders who are or may become party
thereto (collectively, the "Lenders") and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo"), as administrative agent for the Lenders, which was
amended on February 3, 2016 by a Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Merit, certain subsidiaries of Merit, the
Lenders and Wells Fargo as administrative agent for the Lenders (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, the
Lenders have agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an aggregate amount of $225 million. The Lenders also made a term loan in the amount of $100
million, repayable in quarterly installments in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement until the maturity date of December 19, 2017, at which time the
term and revolving credit loans, together with accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. In addition, certain mandatory prepayments are required to be
made upon the occurrence of certain events described in the Credit Agreement. Wells Fargo has agreed, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, to make
swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date in amounts equal to the difference between the amounts actually loaned by the Lenders and the
aggregate revolving credit commitment. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of our assets. At any time prior to the maturity date, we
may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans, term loans, and all swingline loans in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds,
without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

The term loan and any revolving credit loans made under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (i) the base rate (described below) plus
0.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), (ii) the London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) Market Index Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total
Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), or (iii) the LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25%
(subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, the term loan and
revolving credit loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (x) the base rate plus 1.00%, (y) the LIBOR Market Index Rate, plus
2.00%, or (z) the LIBOR Rate plus 2.00%. Swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR
Market Index Rate plus 2.00%. Interest on each loan featuring the base rate or the LIBOR Market Index Rate is due and payable on the last business day of
each calendar month; interest on each loan featuring the LIBOR Rate is due and payable on the last day of each interest period selected by us when selecting
the LIBOR Rate as the benchmark for interest calculation. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, the base rate means the highest of (i) the prime rate (as
announced by Wells Fargo), (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants, representations and warranties and other terms customary for revolving credit loans of this nature. In
this regard, the Credit Agreement requires us to not, among other things, (a) permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) to be greater than 3.00 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending during 2015 and no more than 3.25 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter; (b)
for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, permit the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement and subject to certain
adjustments) to Consolidated Fixed Charges (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to be less than 1.75 to 1; (c) subject to certain adjustments, permit
Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for certain periods to be less than $0; or (d) subject to certain conditions and adjustments,
permit the aggregate amount of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year beginning in 2013 to exceed $30
million. Additionally, the Credit Agreement contains various negative covenants with which
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we must comply, including, but not limited to, limitations respecting: the incurrence of indebtedness, the creation of liens or pledges on our assets, mergers or
similar combinations or liquidations, asset dispositions, the repurchase or redemption of equity interests or debt, the issuance of equity, the payment of
dividends and certain distributions, the entry into related party transactions and other provisions customary in similar types of agreements. As of June 30,
2016, we were in compliance with all covenants set forth in the Credit Agreement.

We had originally entered into an unsecured credit agreement, dated September 30, 2010, with certain lenders who were or became party thereto and Wells
Fargo, as administrative agent for the lenders. Pursuant to the terms of that credit agreement, the lenders agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an
aggregate amount of $175 million. Wells Fargo also agreed to make swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date of September 10, 2015 in
amounts equal to the difference between the amount actually loaned by the lenders and the aggregate credit agreement. The unsecured credit agreement was
amended and restated as of December 19, 2012, as the Credit Agreement.

In summary, principal balances under our long-term debt as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2016 December 31, 2015
Term loan $ 59,962 $ 64,962
Revolving credit loans 171,757 142,631
Total long-term debt 231,719 207,593
Less current portion 10,000 10,000
Long-term portion $ 221,719 $ 197,593

Future minimum principal payments on our long-term debt as of June 30, 2016, are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending Future Minimum

December 31 Principal Payments
2016 5,000
2017 226,719
Total future minimum principal payments $ 231,719

As of June 30, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $231.7 million under the Credit Agreement, with available borrowings of
approximately $53.2 million, based on the leverage ratio in the terms of the Credit Agreement. Our interest rate as of June 30, 2016 was a fixed rate of 2.48%
on $133.8 million as a result of an interest rate swap (see Note 10), a variable floating rate of 2.16% on approximately $98.0 million. Our interest rate as of
December 31, 2015 was a fixed rate of 2.48% on $135.0 million as a result of an interest rate swap, variable floating rate of 1.74% on $65.8 million and a
variable floating rate of 2.12% on approximately $6.8 million.

Subsequent to June 30, 2016, the Credit Agreement was amended and restated in its entirety. See Note 14.

10. Derivatives.

Interest Rate Swap. A portion of our debt bears interest at variable interest rates and, therefore, we are subject to variability in the cash paid for interest
expense. In an effort to mitigate a portion of this risk, we use a hedging strategy to reduce the variability of cash flows in the interest payments associated
with a portion of the variable-rate debt outstanding under the Credit Agreement that is solely due to changes in the benchmark interest rate.

On December 19, 2012, we entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap having an initial notional amount of $150 million with Wells Fargo to
fix the one-month LIBOR rate at 0.98%. The variable portion of the interest rate swap is tied to the one-month LIBOR rate (the benchmark interest rate). On a
monthly basis, the interest rates under both the interest rate swap and the underlying debt reset, the swap is settled with the counterparty, and interest is paid.
The notional amount of the interest rate swap is reduced quarterly by 50% of the minimum principal payment due under the terms of our Credit Agreement.
The interest rate swap is scheduled to expire on December 19, 2017.

At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our interest rate swap qualified as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of our interest rate swap at June 30, 2016 was a
liability of approximately $879,000, which was partially offset by approximately $342,000 in deferred
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taxes. The fair value of our interest rate swap at December 31, 2015 was an asset of approximately $2,000, which was offset by approximately $1,000 in
deferred taxes.

During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015, the amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to
earnings due to hedge effectiveness were included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and were not material.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts. We forecast our net exposure to various currencies and enter into foreign currency forward contracts in an effort to
mitigate that exposure. As of June 30, 2016, we had entered into the following foreign currency forward contracts (amounts in thousands and in local
currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Euro EUR 835
British Pound GBP 592
Chinese Yuan Renminbi CNY 56,250
Mexican Peso MXN 30,000
Brazilian Real BRL 3,600
Australian Dollar AUD 1,900
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 11,000
Canadian Dollar CAD 1,900

We enter into similar transactions at various times during the year to partially offset exchange rate risks we bear throughout the year. These contracts are
marked to market at each month-end, and the fair value of our open positions at June 30, 2016 was not material.

On October 23, 2015, we entered into a foreign currency forward contract to partially offset the currency risk related to an intercompany loan denominated in
CNY. The loan matures and the forward contract is deliverable on September 16, 2016. The notional amount of the forward contract is approximately 46.3
million CNY. This contract is marked to market at each month-end. The fair value of our open position as of June 30, 2016 was a liability of approximately
$231,000.

The effect on our consolidated statements of income for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 of all forward contracts was not
material.

11. Fair Value Measurements. Our financial assets and (liabilities) carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2016 and December 31,
2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Total Fair Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
Value at active markets observable inputs Unobservable inputs
Description June 30, 2016 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Interest rate contracts (1) $ 879) $ — 8 879) $ —
Foreign currency contracts (2) $ (231) $ — (231) $ —
Fair Value Measurements Using
Total Fair Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
Value at active markets observable inputs Unobservable inputs
Description December 31, 2015 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Interest rate contracts (1) $ 2 % — % 2 % —
Foreign currency contracts (2) $ (278) $ — % (278) $ —

(1) The fair value of the interest rate contracts is determined using Level 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as other long-term obligations or other long-
term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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2 The fair value of the foreign currency contracts is determined using Level 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as accrued expenses in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of future
product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue milestones. See Note 2 for further information regarding these acquisitions. The contingent
consideration liability is re-measured at the estimated fair value at each reporting period with the change in fair value recognized within operating expenses in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income. We measure the initial liability and re-measure the liability on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs as
defined under authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. Changes in the fair value of our contingent consideration liability during the three and six-
month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Beginning balance 928 1,842 $ 1,024 $ 1,886
Fair value adjustments recorded to income during the period (14) 121 57 243
Contingent payments made (16) (14) (183) (180)
Ending balance $ 898 §$ 1,949 $ 898 $ 1,949

The recurring Level 3 measurement of our contingent consideration liability includes the following significant unobservable inputs at June 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015 (amount in thousands):

Contingent consideration liability ~ Fair value at June 30, Valuation
(asset) 2016 technique Unobservable inputs Range
Revenue-based payments $ 898  Discounted cash  Discount rate 9.9% - 15%
flow Probability of milestone payment 100%
Projected year of payments 2016-2028
Contingent receivable $ (576) Discounted cash  Discount rate 10%
flow Probability of milestone payment 62%
Projected year of payments 2016-2019
Fair value at Valuation
Contingent consideration liability =~ December 31, 2015 technique Unobservable inputs Range
Revenue-based payments $ 874  Discounted cash  Discount rate 5% - 15%
flow Probability of milestone payment 100%
Projected year of payments 2016-2028
Other payments $ 150  Discounted cash ~ Discount rate —%
flow Probability of milestone payment 100%
Projected year of payments 2016

The contingent consideration liability is re-measured to fair value each reporting period using projected revenues, discount rates, probabilities of payment,
and projected payment dates. Projected contingent payment amounts are discounted back to the current period using a discounted cash flow model. Projected
revenues are based on our most recent internal operational budgets and long-range strategic plans. Increases (decreases) in discount rates and the time to
payment may result in lower (higher) fair value measurements. A decrease in the probability of any milestone payment may result in lower fair value
measurements. An increase (decrease) in either the discount rate or the time to payment, in isolation, may result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value
measurement.

Our determination of the fair value of the contingent consideration liability could change in future periods based upon our ongoing evaluation of these
significant unobservable inputs. We intend to record any such change in fair value to operating expenses as
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part of our cardiovascular segment in our consolidated statements of income. As of June 30, 2016, approximately $813,000 was included in other long-term
obligations and $85,000 was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2015, approximately $775,000 was
included in other long-term obligations and $249,000 was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet. The cash paid to settle the
contingent consideration liability recognized at fair value as of the acquisition date (including measurement-period adjustments) has been reflected as a cash
outflow from financing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

During the first quarter of 2016, we sold a cost method investment for cash and for the right to receive additional payments based on various contingent
milestones. We determined the fair value of the contingent payments using the inputs indicated in the table above, and we recorded a contingent receivable
asset, which as June 30, 2016 had a value of approximately $576,000. We record any changes in fair value to operating expenses as part of our cardiovascular
segment in our consolidated statements of income. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we recorded a loss on the contingent receivable of
approximately $105,000. As of June 30, 2016, approximately $436,000 was included in other long-term assets and approximately $140,000 was included in
other receivables as a current asset in our consolidated balance sheet.

During the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016, we had losses of approximately $90,000 and $90,000, compared to $0 and $14,000,
respectively, for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, related to the measurement of non-financial assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis
subsequent to their initial recognition.

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and trade payables approximates fair value because of the immediate, short-term maturity of
these financial instruments. The carrying amount of long-term debt approximates fair value, as determined by borrowing rates estimated to be available to us
for debt with similar terms and conditions. The fair value of assets and liabilities whose carrying value approximates fair value is determined using Level 2
inputs, with the exception of cash and cash equivalents, which are Level 1 inputs.
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12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

Goodwill balance at January 1
Effect of foreign exchange
Additions as the result of acquisitions

Goodwill balance at June 30

2016

184,472
7
2,555

187,034

As of June 30, 2016, we had recorded $8.3 million of accumulated goodwill impairment charges. All of the goodwill balance as of June 30, 2016 and

December 31, 2015 related to our cardiovascular segment.

Other intangible assets at June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, 2016

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Patents $ 12,914 $ (2,829) 10,085
Distribution agreements 5,626 (3,148) 2,478
License agreements 20,194 (2,790) 17,404
Trademarks 7,974 (2,861) 5,113
Covenants not to compete 1,029 (903) 126
Customer lists 21,152 (15,771) 5,381
Royalty agreements 267 (267) —
Total $ 69,156 $ (28,569) 40,587
December 31, 2015
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount
Patents $ 12,014 $ (2,595) 9,419
Distribution agreements 5,626 (2,853) 2,773
License agreements 19,109 (2,438) 16,671
Trademarks 7,259 (2,554) 4,705
Covenants not to compete 1,028 (873) 155
Customer lists 20,793 (15,023) 5,770
Royalty agreements 267 (267) —
Total $ 66,096 $ (26,603) 39,493

Aggregate amortization expense for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 was approximately $4.0 million and $7.9 million, respectively, and

approximately $3.7 million and $7.3 million for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2015, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for the developed technology and other intangible assets for the next five years consists of the following as of June 30, 2016

(in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

Remaining 2016 9,313
2017 16,976
2018 16,429
2019 16,101
2020 15,117
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13. Commitments and Contingencies. In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various claims and litigation matters. These claims and
litigation matters may include actions involving product liability, intellectual property, contractual, and employment or other matters that are significant to our
business. Based upon our review of currently available information, we do not believe that any such actions are likely to be, individually or in the aggregate,
materially adverse to our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, in the event of unexpected further developments, it is
possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters, or other similar matters, if unfavorable, may be materially adverse to our business, financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity. Legal costs for these matters, such as outside counsel fees and expenses, are charged to expense in the period incurred.

14. Subsequent Events. We have evaluated whether any subsequent events have occurred from June 30, 2016 to the time of filing of this report that would
require disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. We note the following two events below.

Acquisition of DFINE

On July 6, 2016, we acquired DFINE, Inc., a medical device company headquartered in San Jose, California ("DFINE"), in a merger transaction through
which DFINE became our wholly-owned subsidiary. The total merger consideration we paid in the transaction was approximately $97.5 million, which
amount includes certain indebtedness and is subject to a working capital adjustment. We are currently evaluating the accounting treatment of this purchase, as
well as performing the valuation of the assets acquired and the related purchase price allocation.

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

In connection with the transactions contemplated by the DFINE acquisition referenced above, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated July 6, 2016 (the “Second Amended Credit Agreement”), with the lenders who are or may become party thereto (collectively, the
“Lenders”), Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (the “Agent”), swingline lender and a Lender, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC,
as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner. The Second Amended Credit Agreement amends and restates in its entirety our previously outstanding Credit
Agreement and all amendments thereto. In addition to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., U.S. Bank, National Association, and
HSBC Bank USA, National Association, are parties to the Second Amended Credit Agreement as Lenders. Pursuant to the terms of the Second Amended
Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make a term loan in the amount of $150.0 million and revolving credit loans up to an aggregate amount of
$275.0 million, of which $25.0 million will be reserved to make swingline loans from time to time.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements in this Report, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-
looking statements for purposes of these provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any statements of the plans and
objectives of our management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new products or services, any statements regarding the integration,
development or commercialization of the business or assets acquired from other parties, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance,
and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. All forward-looking statements included in this Report are made as of the date hereof and
are based on information available to us as of such date. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement. In some cases, forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes,” “estimates,” “potential,”
or “continue,” or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future
performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and
strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and other future conditions. Our actual results will likely vary, and may vary materially,
from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking
statements, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including risks relating to product recalls and product liability claims; potential restrictions on our
liquidity or our ability to operate our business within the term of our current credit agreement, and the consequences of any default under that agreement;
possible infringement of our technology or the assertion that our technology infringes the rights of other parties; the potential imposition of fines, penalties, or
other adverse consequences if our employees or agents violate the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other laws or regulations; expenditures relating to
research, development, testing and regulatory approval or clearance of our
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products and the risk that such products may not be developed successfully or approved for commercial use; greater governmental scrutiny and regulation of
the medical device industry; reforms to the 510(k) process administered by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA"); laws targeting fraud and
abuse in the healthcare industry; potential for significant adverse changes in, or our failure to comply with, governing regulations; increases in the price of
commodity components; negative changes in economic and industry conditions in the United States and other countries; termination or interruption of
relationships with our suppliers, or failure of such suppliers to perform; our potential inability to successfully manage growth through acquisitions, including
the inability to commercialize technology acquired through recent, proposed or future acquisitions; fluctuations in exchange rates of EUR, CNY, GBP, BRL,
MXN, CAD, and other foreign currencies relative to the U.S. Dollar; our need to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our debt obligations, capital
expenditures, and ongoing operations; concentration of our revenues among a few products and procedures; development of new products and technology that
could render our existing products obsolete; market acceptance of new products; volatility in the market price of our common stock; modification or
limitation of governmental or private insurance reimbursement policies; changes in health care markets related to health care reform initiatives; failures to
comply with applicable environmental laws; changes in key personnel; work stoppage or transportation risks; uncertainties associated with potential
healthcare policy changes which may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations; introduction of products in a timely fashion;
price and product competition; availability of labor and materials; cost increases; fluctuations in and obsolescence of inventory; and other factors referred to
in Part II, Item 1A "Risk Factors" of this Report, Part I, Item 1A "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015,
and other materials filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our
behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Financial estimates are subject to change and are not intended to be relied upon
as predictions of future operating results, and we assume no obligation to update or disclose revisions to those estimates.

OVERVIEW

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operation should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related condensed notes thereto, which are included in Part I of this Report.

We design, develop, manufacture, and market medical products for interventional, diagnostic, and therapeutic procedures. For financial reporting purposes,
we report our operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of cardiology and radiology devices,
which assist in diagnosing and treating coronary arterial disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-vascular diseases, as well as our
embolotherapeutic, CRM, and EP products. Our endoscopy segment consists of gastroenterology and pulmonology devices which assist in the palliative
treatment of expanding esophageal, tracheobronchial and biliary strictures caused by malignant tumors.

For the three months ended June 30, 2016, we reported sales of approximately $151.1 million, up approximately $13.0 million or 9.4%, over sales for the
three months ended June 30, 2015 of approximately $138.1 million. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, we reported sales of approximately $289.1
million, up approximately $21.5 million or 8.0%, over sales for the six months ended June 30, 2015 of approximately $267.7 million.

Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 44.3% for the three-month period ended June 30, 2016 as compared to 44.1% for the three-month period
ended June 30, 2015. Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.9% for the six-month period ended June 30, 2016 as compared to 43.4% for the six-
month period ended June 30, 2015.

Net income for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was approximately $7.3 million, or $0.16 per share, as compared to $7.4 million, or $0.17 per share, for
the quarter ended June 30, 2015. For the six-month period ended June 30, 2016, net income was approximately $11.6 million, or $0.26 per share, as compared
to $12.6 million, or $0.28 per share, for the six-month period ended June 30, 2015.

During February 2016, we purchased the HeROGraft device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc., a developer of medical devices based in Kennesaw,
GA, for $18.5 million. Sales for the HeROGraft device were approximately $2.1 million and $3.4 million for the three and six-month periods ended June 30,
2016, respectively.

On July 6, 2016, we acquired DFINE in a merger transaction through which DFINE became our wholly-owned subsidiary. The total merger consideration we
paid in the transaction was approximately $97.5 million, which amount includes certain indebtedness and is subject to a working capital adjustment. DFINE’s
products are directed to vertebral augmentation (kyphoplasty and vertebralplasty), as well as targeted radiofrequency ablation of metastatic spinal tumors. See
“The integration of the DFine business into our existing business will present significant challenges, which may harm our operations.” set forth in Part II,
Item 1A “Risk Factors” below.
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We continue to focus our efforts on expanding our presence in foreign markets, particularly Europe, Middle East and Africa, China, Southeast Asia, Japan,
Brazil, Australia and Canada, in an effort to expand our market opportunities. These efforts have increased our selling, general and administrative expenses in
the short term, but we believe over time they will help us improve our profitability.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth certain operational data as a percentage of sales for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, as indicated:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015
Net sales 100% 100% 100% 100%
Gross profit 44.3 44.1 43.9 43.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 28.9 28.5 29.5 28.5
Research and development expenses 7.6 6.7 7.6 7.1
Contingent consideration expense 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Income from operations 7.7 8.9 6.7 7.8
Other (expense) - net (1.1) (1.2) (1.2) (1.1)
Income before income taxes 6.5 7.6 5.5 6.7

4.8 5.4 4.0 4.7

Net income

Sales. Sales for the three months ended June 30, 2016 increased by 9.4%, or approximately $13.0 million, compared to the corresponding period of 2015.
Sales for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased by 8.0%, or approximately $21.5 million, compared to the corresponding period of 2015. Listed
below are the sales by product category within each of our business segments for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 (in

thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
% Change 2016 2015 % Change 2016 2015
Cardiovascular
Stand-alone devices 17.5% $ 46,394 $ 39,496 17.0% $ 89,726 $ 76,674
Custom kits and procedure trays —% 30,065 30,067 2.1% 58,944 57,753
Inflation devices (0.1)% 18,691 18,701 (2.6)% 36,403 37,391
Catheters 19.5% 28,846 24,139 10.8% 52,745 47,596
Embolization devices 3.0% 11,948 11,603 3.3% 22,731 21,995
CRM/EP 9.1% 9,581 8,783 8.5% 17,520 16,143
Total 9.6% 145,525 132,789 8.0% 278,069 257,552
Endoscopy
Endoscopy devices 4.8% 5,546 5,293 9.6% 11,079 10,107
Total 9.4% $ 151,071 $ 138,082 8.0% $ 289,148 $ 267,659

Our cardiovascular sales increased approximately $12.7 million, or 9.6%, for the three months ended June 30, 2016, on sales of approximately $145.5
million, compared to sales of $132.8 million for the corresponding period of 2015. Our cardiovascular sales increased approximately $20.5 million, or 8.0%,
for the six months ended June 30, 2016, on sales of approximately $278.1 million, compared to sales of $257.6 million for the corresponding period of 2015.
This improvement was largely the result of increased sales of our stand-alone devices (particularly our diagnostic guide wire product line, tubing product line
and hydrophilic guide wire product line) and our catheters. The introduction of the HeROGraft product in the first quarter of 2016 also contributed to the
increase in sales in the cardiovascular segment for the periods presented. The decrease in sales of inflation devices for the periods presented was primarily due

to reduced sales to a large OEM customer and two large distributors.

Our endoscopy sales increased 4.8% for the three months ended June 30, 2016, on sales of approximately $5.5 million, when compared to sales for the
corresponding period of 2015 of approximately $5.3 million. Our endoscopy sales increased 9.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2016, on sales of
approximately $11.1 million, when compared to sales for the corresponding period of 2015 of approximately $10.1 million. This increase was primarily
related to an increase in sales of our EndoMAXX™ fully covered esophageal stent, as well as related to the introduction of our Elation® Balloon Dilator.
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Gross Profit. Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 44.3% for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to 44.1% for the corresponding
period of 2015. Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.9% for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to 43.4% for the six months ended
June 30, 2015. The increase in gross margin for the periods presented was primarily related to the increased focus on higher margin products and the
suspension of the medical device tax in the United States.

Operating Expenses. Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses increased approximately $4.3 million, or 11.0%, for the three months ended
June 30, 2016, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2015. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses increased to 28.9% of sales for the three months
ended June 30, 2016, compared to 28.5% of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2015. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, SG&A expenses as a
percentage of sales increased to 29.5%, compared to 28.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The increase in SG&A expense in both periods was
primarily related to increased acquisition costs, severance expenses and foreign market expansion costs, which were partially offset by decreases of
approximately $262,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and approximately $780,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 in our foreign
currency-denominated SG&A expense, which in turn was due primarily to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development ("R&D") expenses were 7.6% of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to 6.7% of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2015. Research and development expenses were 7.6% of sales for the six months ended June
30, 2016, compared to 7.1% of sales for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The increase in both periods was largely due to hiring of additional research and
development personnel to support various new product developments.

Operating Income. The following table sets forth our operating income by business segment for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and
2015 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Operating Income
Cardiovascular 10,880 11,258 17,529 19,327
Endoscopy 701 984 1,759 1,619
Total operating income 11,581 12,242 19,288 20,946

Cardiovascular Operating Income. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $10.9 million from
our cardiovascular business segment, compared to income from operations from this segment of approximately $11.3 million for the corresponding period of
2015. The decrease in operating income in our cardiovascular segment was primarily the result of increased SG&A expenses relating to increased acquisition
costs and increased R&D expenses, which were partially offset by a decrease of approximately $262,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 in our
foreign currency-denominated SG&A expense, due primarily to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the three months ended June 30,
2016 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2015.

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $17.5 million from our cardiovascular business segment,
compared to income from operations from this segment of approximately $19.3 million for the corresponding period of 2015. The decrease in operating
income in our cardiovascular segment was primarily the result of increased SG&A expenses relating to increased acquisition costs and increased R&D
expenses, which were partially offset by a decrease of approximately $780,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 in our foreign currency-denominated
SG&A expense, due primarily to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the six months
ended June 30, 2015.

Endoscopy Operating_Income. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $701,000 from our
endoscopy business segment, compared to income from operations from this segment of approximately $984,000 for the corresponding period of 2015. The
decrease in operating income in our endoscopy segment was primarily the result of higher SG&A and R&D expenses as a percentage of sales.

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $1.8 million from our endoscopy business segment,
compared to income from operations from this segment of approximately $1.6 million for the corresponding
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period of 2015. The increase in operating income in our endoscopy segment was primarily the result of higher sales and gross profits, as well as SG&A
expenses as a percentage of sales.

Other Expense - Net. Other expense, net, for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was approximately $1.7 million, compared to other expense, net, of
approximately $1.7 million for the corresponding period of 2015. Other expense, net, for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was approximately $3.5 million,
compared to other expense, net, of approximately $3.0 million for the corresponding period of 2015. The increase in other expense was principally the result
of losses on changes in foreign exchange rates.

Income Taxes. Our overall effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was 26.1% and 29.7%, respectively, which resulted in a
provision for income taxes of $2.6 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Our overall effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and
2015 was 26.2% and 30.1%, respectively, which resulted in a provision for income taxes of $4.1 million and $5.4 million, respectively. The decrease in the
effective income tax rate for both periods was due primarily to the reinstatement of the federal research and development credit and a higher mix of earnings
from our foreign operations, which are generally taxed at lower rates than our U.S. operations.

Net Income. During the three months ended June 30, 2016, we reported net income of $7.3 million, a decrease of approximately 1.5% from $7.4 million for
the corresponding period of 2015. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we reported net income of $11.6 million, a decrease of approximately 7.4%
from $12.6 million for the corresponding period of 2015.The decrease in net income was primarily due to higher operating expenses and research and
development expenses as a percentage of sales and losses resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates, and was partially offset by higher gross margins
and a lower effective income tax rate.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital Commitments and Contractual Obligations

Our working capital as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was approximately $134.9 million and $116.1 million, respectively. The increase in working
capital as of June 30, 2016 compared to December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of increases in cash, trade receivables, and inventories, as well as a
decrease in trade payables, which were partially offset by an increase in accrued expenses and a decrease in other receivables. As of June 30, 2016, we had a
current ratio of 2.59 to 1.

At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $10.5 million and $4.2 million respectively, of which $9.2
million and $3.7 million, respectively, were held by foreign subsidiaries. For each of our foreign subsidiaries, we make an evaluation as to whether the
earnings are intended to be repatriated to the United States or held by the foreign subsidiary for permanent reinvestment. The cash held by our foreign
subsidiaries for permanent reinvestment is used to fund the operating activities of our foreign subsidiaries and for further investment in foreign operations. A
deferred tax liability has been accrued for the earnings that are available to be repatriated to the United States.

In addition, cash held by our subsidiary in China is subject to local laws and regulations that require government approval for the transfer of such funds to
entities located outside of China. As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $2.0 million and $1.7
million, respectively, held by our subsidiary in China.

During the six months ended June 30, 2016, our inventory balance increased approximately $3.9 million, from approximately $106.0 million at December 31,
2015 to approximately $109.9 million at June 30, 2016. The increase in the inventory balance was due to several factors, including our acquisition of the
HeROGraft device and increases in raw materials and work in process, as well as the launch of our direct sales activities in Canada, and was partially offset
by a decrease in our finished good inventory as a result of increased sales. The trailing twelve months inventory turns as of June 30, 2016 decreased to 3.09,
compared to 3.30 as of June 30, 2015.

Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an aggregate amount of $225 million. The
Lenders also made a term loan in the amount of $100 million, repayable in quarterly installments in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement until the
maturity date of December 19, 2017, at which time the term and revolving credit loans, together with accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. In
addition, certain mandatory prepayments are required to be made upon the occurrence of certain events described in the Credit Agreement. Wells Fargo has
agreed, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, to make swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date in amounts equal to the difference
between the amounts actually loaned by the Lenders and the aggregate revolving credit commitment. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially
all of our assets. At any time prior to the maturity date, we may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans, term loans, and all swingline loans
in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds, without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

The term loan and any revolving credit loans made under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (i) the base rate (described below) plus
0.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), (ii) the LIBOR
Market Index Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit
Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), or (iii) the LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated
Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, the term loan and revolving credit loans under the Credit
Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (x) the base rate plus 1.00%, (y) the LIBOR Market Index Rate, plus 2.00%, or (z) the LIBOR Rate plus
2.00%. Swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined
in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 2.00%. Interest on each
loan featuring the base rate or the LIBOR Market Index Rate is due and payable on the last business day of each calendar month; interest on each loan
featuring the LIBOR Rate is due and payable on the last day of each interest period selected by us when selecting the LIBOR Rate as the benchmark for
interest calculation. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, the base rate means the highest of (i) the prime rate (as announced by Wells Fargo), (ii) the federal
funds rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants, representations and warranties and other terms customary for revolving credit loans of this nature. In
this regard, the Credit Agreement requires us to not, among other things, (a) permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) to be greater than 4.75 to 1 through the end of 2013, no more than 4.00 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2014, no more than 3.75 to
1 as of the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2014, no more than 3.50 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2014, no more than 3.25 to 1 as of the
fiscal quarter ending December

23



Table of Contents

31, 2014, no more than 3.00 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending during 2015, and no more than 3.25 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending thereafter; (b) for any
period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, permit the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement and subject to certain adjustments) to
Consolidated Fixed Charges (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to be less than 1.75 to 1; (c) subject to certain adjustments, permit Consolidated Net Income
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) for certain periods to be less than $0; or (d) subject to certain conditions and adjustments, permit the aggregate amount
of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year beginning in 2013 to exceed $30 million. Additionally, the Credit
Agreement contains various negative covenants with which we must comply, including, but not limited to, limitations respecting: the incurrence of
indebtedness, the creation of liens or pledges on our assets, mergers or similar combinations or liquidations, asset dispositions, the repurchase or redemption
of equity interests and debt, the issuance of equity, the payment of dividends and certain distributions, the entrance into related party transactions and other
provisions customary in similar types of agreements. As of June 30, 2016, we were in compliance with all covenants set forth in the Credit Agreement.

As of June 30, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $231.7 million under the Credit Agreement, with available borrowings of
approximately $53.2 million, based on the leverage ratio in the terms of the Credit Agreement. Our interest rate as of June 30, 2016 was a fixed rate of 2.48%
on $133.8 million as a result of an interest rate swap (see Note 10), a variable floating rate of 2.16% on approximately $98.0 million. Our interest rate as of
December 31, 2015 was a fixed rate of 2.48% on $135.0 million as a result of an interest rate swap, variable floating rate of 1.74% on $65.8 million and a
variable floating rate of 2.12% on approximately $6.8 million.

Cash used in investing activities was approximately $43.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to approximately $26.5 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2015, an increase of approximately $17.5 million. This increase was primarily a result of more cash paid for acquisitions during
the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2105, principally the $18.5 million paid in the acquisition of the HeROGraft
device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc. (see Note 5 of the condensed notes to our consolidated financial statements). Capital expenditures for
property and equipment were approximately $21.2 million and $25.4 million, respectively, for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, a
decrease of approximately $4.1 million.

Cash provided by financing activities for the six-month period ended June 30, 2016 was approximately $24.7 million, compared to cash used in financing
actives of approximately $9.0 million for the six-month period ended ended June 30, 2015, a change of approximately $33.7 million. This change was
primarily the result of increased debt financing related to acquisitions, principally our acquisition of the HeROGraft device and other related assets, as well as
reduced proceeds from the issuance of common stock, during the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2015.

We currently believe that our existing cash balances, anticipated future cash flows from operations, equipment financing and borrowings under the Credit
Agreement, as amended and restated, will be adequate to fund our current and currently planned future operations for the next twelve months and the
foreseeable future.

On July 6, 2016, we acquired DFINE, Inc., a medical device company headquartered in San Jose, California ("DFINE"), in a merger transaction through
which DFINE became our wholly-owned subsidiary. The total merger consideration we paid in the transaction was approximately $97.5 million, which
amount includes certain indebtedness and is subject to a working capital adjustment. We are currently evaluating the accounting treatment of this purchase, as
well as performing the valuation of the assets acquired and the related purchase price allocation.

In connection with the transactions contemplated by the DFINE acquisition referenced above, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement, dated July 6, 2016 (the “Second Amended Credit Agreement”), with the lenders who are or may become party thereto (collectively, the
“Lenders”), Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (the “Agent”), swingline lender and a Lender, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC,
as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner. The Second Amended Credit Agreement amends and restates in its entirety our previously outstanding Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement and all amendments thereto. In addition to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Bank of America, N.A., U.S. Bank,
National Association, and HSBC Bank USA, National Association, are parties to the Second Amended Credit Agreement as Lenders. Pursuant to the terms of
the Second Amended Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make a term loan in the amount of $150.0 million and revolving credit loans up to an
aggregate amount of $275.0 million, of which $25.0 million will be reserved to making swingline loans from time to time. See “The agreements and
instruments governing our long-term debt contain restrictions, limitations and default remedies that could significantly affect our ability to operate our
business, our liquidity and our ability to continue as a going concern.” set forth in Part II, Item 1A “Risk Factors” below.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
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The SEC has requested that all registrants address their most critical accounting policies. The SEC has indicated that a “critical accounting policy” is one
which is both important to the representation of the registrant’s financial condition and results and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on past
experience and on various other assumptions our management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results will differ, and may differ
materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, changes in accounting estimates could occur in the future from period
to period. Our management has discussed the development and selection of our most critical financial estimates with the audit committee of our Board of
Directors. The following paragraphs identify our most critical accounting policies:

Inventory Obsolescence. Our management reviews on a quarterly basis inventory quantities on hand for unmarketable and/or slow-moving products that
may expire prior to being sold. This review includes quantities on hand for both raw materials and finished goods. Based on this review, we provide
adjustments for any slow-moving finished good products or raw materials that we believe will expire prior to being sold or used to produce a finished good
and any products that are unmarketable. This review of inventory quantities for unmarketable and/or slow moving products is based on forecasted product
demand prior to expiration lives.

Forecasted unit demand is derived from our historical experience of product sales and production raw material usage. If market conditions become less
favorable than those projected by our management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013, we recorded obsolescence expense of approximately $2.8 million, $2.3 million, and $2.7 million, respectively, and wrote off approximately $2.5
million, $2.4 million, and $2.8 million, respectively. Based on this historical trend, we believe that our inventory balances as of June 30, 2016 have been
accurately adjusted for any unmarketable and/or slow moving products that may expire prior to being sold.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. A majority of our receivables are with hospitals which, over our history, have demonstrated favorable collection rates.
Therefore, we have experienced relatively minimal bad debts from hospital customers. In limited circumstances, we have written off bad debts as the result of
the termination of our business relationships with foreign distributors. The most significant write-offs over our history have come from U.S. custom
procedure tray manufacturers who bundle our products in surgical trays.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts relating to estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. These
allowances are based upon historical experience and a review of individual customer balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Stock-Based Compensation. We measure stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the value of the award and recognize the cost as an
expense over the term of the vesting period. Judgment is required in estimating the fair value of share-based awards granted and their expected forfeiture rate.
If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.

Income Taxes. Under our accounting policies, we initially recognize a tax position in our financial statements when it becomes more likely than not that the
position will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions are initially and subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax
positions that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the tax authorities assuming full knowledge of the position
and all relevant facts. Although we believe our provisions for unrecognized tax positions are reasonable, we can make no assurance that the final tax outcome
of these matters will not be different from that which we have reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. The tax law is subject to varied
interpretations, and we have taken positions related to certain matters where the law is subject to interpretation. Such differences could have a material impact
on our income tax provisions and operating results in the period(s) in which we make such determination.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment and Contingent Consideration. We test our goodwill balances for impairment as of July 1 of each year, or
whenever impairment indicators arise. We utilize several reporting units in evaluating goodwill for impairment. We assess the estimated fair value of
reporting units using a combination of a market-based approach with a guideline public company method and a discounted cash flow method. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge is recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying
amount of the reporting unit goodwill over implied fair value of that goodwill. This analysis requires significant judgment, including estimation of future cash
flows and the length of time they will occur, which is based on internal forecasts, and a determination of a discount rate based on our weighted average cost of
capital. During our annual test of goodwill balances in 2015, which was completed during the

25



Table of Contents

third quarter of 2015, we determined that the fair value of each reporting unit with goodwill exceeded the carrying amount by a significant amount.

We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying amount may not be
recoverable. This analysis requires similar significant judgments as those discussed above regarding goodwill, except that undiscounted cash flows are
compared to the carrying amount of intangible assets to determine if impairment exists. All of our intangible assets are subject to amortization.

Contingent consideration is an obligation by the buyer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the former owner upon reaching certain performance
targets. Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of
future product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue milestones. In connection with a business combination, any contingent consideration is
recorded on the acquisition date based upon the consideration expected to be transferred in the future. We utilize a discounted cash flow method, which
includes a probability factor for milestone payments, in valuing the contingent consideration liability. We re-measure the estimated liability each quarter and
record changes in the estimated fair value through operating expense in our consolidated statements of income. Significant increases or decreases in our
estimates could result in changes to the estimated fair value of our contingent consideration liability, as the result of changes in the timing and amount of
revenue estimates, as well as changes in the discount rate or periods.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Currency Risk. Our principal market risk relates to changes in the value of the Euro (EUR), Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY), and British Pound (GBP)
relative to the value of the U.S. Dollar (USD). We also have a limited market risk relating to the Hong Kong Dollar (HKD), Mexican Peso (MXN), Australian
Dollar (AUD), Canadian Dollar (CAD), Brazilian Real (BRL), and the Swedish and Danish Kroner. Our consolidated financial statements are denominated
in, and our principal currency is, the U.S. Dollar. For the three-month period ended June 30, 2016, a portion of our revenues (approximately $39.6 million,
representing approximately 26% of our aggregate revenues), was attributable to sales that were denominated in foreign currencies. All other international
sales were denominated in U.S. Dollars. Our Euro-denominated revenue represents our largest single currency risk. However, our Euro-denominated expenses
associated with our European operations (manufacturing sites, a distribution facility and sales representatives) provide a natural hedge. Accordingly, changes
in the Euro, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro, will positively affect our net income. A strengthening U.S. dollar against the
Euro of 10% would increase net income by approximately $3.0 million dollars on an annual basis. Conversely, a weakening U.S. dollar against the Euro of
10% would decrease net income by approximately $3.0 million dollars on an annual basis. A strengthening U.S. dollar against the CNY of 10% would
decrease net income by approximately $4.0 million dollars on an annual basis. Conversely, a weakening U.S. dollar against the CNY of 10% would increase
net income by approximately $4.0 million dollars on an annual basis. During the three-month period ended June 30, 2016, exchange rate fluctuations of
foreign currencies against the U.S. Dollar resulted in a decrease in our gross revenues of approximately $638,000, or 0.4%, and a decrease of 1.1% in gross
profit, primarily as a result of unfavorable impacts to revenue due to sales denominated in CNY, GBP, and BRL, partially offset by favorable impacts due to
increases in Irish manufacturing costs denominated in EUR.

We forecast our net exposure to various currencies and enter into foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate that exposure. As of June 30, 2016, we had
entered into the following foreign currency forward contracts (amounts in thousands and in local currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Euro EUR 835
British Pound GBP 592
Chinese Yuan Renminbi CNY 56,250
Mexican Peso MXN 30,000
Brazilian Real BRL 3,600
Australian Dollar AUD 1,900
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 11,000
Canadian Dollar CAD 1,900

We enter into similar transactions at various times during the year to partially offset exchange rate risks we bear throughout the year. These contracts are
marked to market at each month-end.

On October 23, 2015, we entered into a foreign currency forward contract to partially offset the currency risk related to an intercompany loan denominated in
CNY. The loan matures and the forward contract is deliverable on September 16, 2016. The notional amount of the forward contract is approximately 46.3
million CNY. This contract is marked to market at each month-end.

The effect on our consolidated statements of income for the three-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 of all forward contracts, and the fair
value of our open positions at June 30, 2016, were not material.

Interest Rate Risk. As discussed in Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements, as of June 30, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately
$231.7 million under the Credit Agreement. Accordingly, our earnings and after-tax cash flow are affected by changes in interest rates. As part of our efforts
to mitigate interest rate risk, on December 19, 2012, we entered into a LIBOR-based interest rate swap agreement having an initial notional amount of $150.0
million with Wells Fargo to fix the one-month LIBOR rate at 0.98%. As of June 30, 2016, a notional amount of $133.8 million remained on the interest rate
swap agreement, which expires on December 19, 2017. This instrument is intended to reduce our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and was not entered
into for speculative purposes. Excluding the amount that is subject to a fixed rate under the interest rate swap and assuming the current level of borrowings
remained the same, it is estimated that our interest expense and income before income taxes would change by approximately $980,000 annually for each one
percentage point change in the average interest rate under these borrowings.
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In the event of an adverse change in interest rates, our management would likely take actions to mitigate our exposure. However, due to the uncertainty of the
actions that would be taken and their possible effects, additional analysis is not possible at this time. Further, such analysis would not consider the effects of
the change in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of June 30, 2016. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.

Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a
reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the quarter ended June 30, 2016, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934).
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 13 “Commitments and Contingencies” set forth in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to other information set forth in this Report, readers should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the "Form 10-K"), which could materially affect our business, financial condition or
future results. The risks described in our Form 10-K are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we
currently deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.

The risk factors identified in Part I, Item 1A of the Form 10-K are supplemented by the following additional risk factors:

We may be unable to manage rapid increases in the demand for our products, particularly if the increase may not be sustained.

Due to regulatory issues experienced by a competitor, we have recently experienced an increase in demand for certain of our products. We do not know
whether this increase will be short-term, medium-term or sustained, nor can we presently estimate the amount of the increase. As a result of this increase,
demand for those products may exceed our inventory and manufacturing capacity. In response to the development, we have increased capacity at some of our
existing facilities; however, this increase may not be sufficient to meet demand and could place stress on our human and other resources. It may also place
stress on our relationships with third-party suppliers. In the short term, we cannot outsource this manufacturing because our products need to be manufactured
to exact specifications, in a clean environment and by a manufacturer that satisfies certain regulatory requirements. This is forcing us to make allocation
decisions among existing and new customers. We may be unable to efficiently manage this increase in demand for certain products. Failure to efficiently
manage the situation could result in the loss of skilled employees or damage our existing supply relationships. A rapid increase in production may also lead to
failures in our internal controls, including those related to quality, operations or financial reporting. Any such failures on our part may result in long-term
declines in our profitability and results of operations.

The agreements and instruments governing our long-term debt contain restrictions, limitations and default remedies that could significantly affect
our ability to operate our business, our liquidity and our ability to continue as a going concern.

We entered into the Second Amended Credit Agreement with certain lenders and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as administrative agent, in
connection with our acquisition by merger of DFINE. The Second Amended Credit Agreement contains a number of significant covenants that could limit or
restrict our ability to operate our business, our liquidity or our results of operations. These covenants restrict, among other things, our incurrence of
indebtedness, creation of liens or pledges on our assets, mergers or similar combinations or liquidations, asset dispositions, repurchases or redemptions of
equity interests or debt, issuances of equity, payment of dividends and certain distributions, and entry into related party transactions.

We have pledged substantially all of our assets as collateral for the Second Amended Credit Agreement. Our breach of any covenant in the Second Amended
Credit Agreement, not otherwise cured, waived or amended, could result in a default under the Second Amended Credit Agreement and could trigger
acceleration of underlying obligations. The administrative agent and lenders under the Second Amended Credit Agreement have available to them the
remedies typically available to lenders and secured parties, including the ability to foreclose on the collateral we have pledged. Any default under the Second
Amended Credit Agreement would at a minimum harm ability to service our debt and to fund our prospective capital expenditures and ongoing operations. It
could lead to an acceleration of indebtedness and foreclosure on our assets.

The Second Amended Credit Agreement provides for a total potential borrowing base of $425.0 million, which is $100.0 million more than the aggregate
amount we were permitted to borrow under our prior Credit Agreement. As a result of this increase in indebtedness, it may be more difficult for us to comply
with leverage ratios and other restrictive covenants. We may also have less cash available for operations and investments in our business, as we will be
required to use additional cash to satisfy the minimum payments obligations associated with this increased indebtedness.
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The integration of the DFINE business into our existing business will present significant challenges, which may harm our operations.

We may be unable to realize anticipated benefits, and may experience losses, in connection with our acquisition of DFINE. Prior to the acquisition, DFINE
was not profitable or cash flow positive. In an effort to make the DFINE operations accretive to our results of operations, we plan to reduce the number of
employees at DFINE, have our existing employees assume certain sales and other functions and consolidate a significant portion of the manufacturing
activities related to the DFINE products, all without losing important supplier or customer relationships or experiencing a reduction in product quality. We
also need to retain and integrate certain key employees and suppliers that are important for the continuation and success of the DFINE business. Although we
anticipate delays, the loss of certain employees, suppliers or customers, culture clashes, unbudgeted costs and other issues at certain levels, we may
experience any or all of such problems at levels that are more severe or more prolonged than anticipated. In addition, we may experience problems that can be
associated with any acquisition in our industry, such as regulatory, infringement, product liability, discrimination or other legal claims or issues. If any such
problems or issues arise, we may lose all or part of our investment in DFINE or fail to realize anticipated benefits.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Exhibit No. Description
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Merit, MMS Transaction Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Merit, DFine Inc., certain

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

31.1

31.2

321

32.2

101

preferred stockholders and Shareholder Representative Services LLC as a stockholder representative*

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 6, 2016 with the Lenders party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association

Form of Indemnification Agreement, dated June 13, 2016, between the Company and each of the following individuals: Fred P.
Lampropoulos, Kent W. Stanger, Nolan E. Karras, A. Scott Anderson, Richard W. Edelman, Franklin J. Miller, M.D., Michael E.
Stillabower, M.D., F. Ann Millner, Ed. D., Bernard J. Birkett, Ronald A. Frost, Joseph C. Wright, Justin J. Lampropoulos, and Brian G.
Lloyd**

Form of Employment Agreement, dated May 26, 2016 between the Company and each of the following individuals: Bernard J. Birkett,
Ronald A. Frost, Joseph C. Wright, Justin J. Lampropoulos, and Brian G. Lloyd**

Employment Agreement, dated May 26, 2016 between the Company and Fred P. Lampropoulos**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The following financial information from the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. for the quarter ended June
30, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii) Consolidated

Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements

* Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Rule 24b-z and are subject to a confidential treatment request.

** Management compensation agreement

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.

REGISTRANT
Date:  August 8, 2016 /s/ FRED P. LAMPROPOULOS
FRED P. LAMPROPOULOS
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Date:  August 8, 2016 /s/ BERNARD J. BIRKETT

BERNARD J. BIRKETT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Exhibit 2.1

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Rule 24b-2 and are subject to a confidential treatment
request. Copies of this exhibit containing the omitted information have been filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. The omitted portions of this document are marked with a ***,

Agreement and Plan of Merger

by and among

Merit Medical Systems, Inc.,
MMS Transaction Co.,
DFine, Inc.,
the Priority Preferred Stockholders,
solely for purposes of Article VII and VIII,

and

Shareholder Representative Services LLC,
solely in its capacity as the Stockholder Representative

dated as of

July 6, 2016
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This Agreement and Plan of Merger (this “Agreement”), dated as of July 6, 2016, is entered into by and among Merit Medical Systems, Inc., a Utah
corporation (“Parent”), MMS Transaction Co., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”), DFine, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), the Priority Preferred Stockholders, solely for purposes of Article VII and Article VIII, and Shareholder Representative
Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, solely in its capacity as the representative of the Priority Preferred Stockholders (the “Stockholder
Representative”).

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

RECITALS

I8 I8 I8 I8 I8
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WHEREAS, the Company is a corporation duly formed and validly existing under the Laws of the State of Delaware;

WHEREAS, Parent is a corporation duly formed and validly existing under the Laws of the State of Utah, and Merger Sub, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Parent, is a corporation duly formed and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware;

WHEREAS, the parties intend that Merger Sub be merged with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the merger on the terms and

subject to the conditions set forth herein (the “Merger”);



WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company (the “Company Board”) and the board of directors of each of Parent and Merger Sub have (a)
determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger, are in the best interests of their respective companies and
stockholders, and (b) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger; and

WHEREAS, the Company Board and the board of directors of Merger Sub have each resolved to recommend adoption of this Agreement by their
respective stockholders in accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:



Article I
DEFINITIONS

The following terms have the meanings specified or referred to in this Article I:

“Accounting Principles” means GAAP, applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures, with consistent
classifications, judgments and valuation and estimation methodologies that were used in the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2015, so long as such methods, practices, principles, policies and procedures were consistent with GAAP.

“Acquired Companies” means the Company and each of its Subsidiaries

“Action” means any action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or
investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or in equity, in each case, by or before any Governmental
Authority.

“Actual Cash” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).

“Actual Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).

“Actual Transaction Expenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).

“Actual Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).

“Actual Working Capital Adjustment” means Actual Working Capital, minus Target Working Capital.

“Adjusted Closing Merger Consideration” means the Enterprise Value, plus (a) the Actual Working Capital Adjustment (which may be a positive
or negative number), minus (b) the amount, if any, by which Actual Cash is less than $1,000,000 (and otherwise $0), minus (c) the amount of Actual
Indebtedness, minus (d) the amount of Actual Transaction Expenses, minus (e) the Indemnification Escrow Amount, minus (f) the Integration Cost Escrow
Amount, minus (g) the Stockholder Representative Expense Amount.

“Affiliate” of a Person means any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, such Person. The term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Ancillary Documents” means the Escrow Agreement and the Distribution Agent Agreement.

“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).



“Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks located in Salt Lake City, Utah or in San Jose,
California are authorized or required by Law to be closed for business.

“Cap” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(c).
“Capital Stock” means shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock.

“Cash” means, as of any date of determination, all cash and cash equivalents of the Acquired Companies, including deposits and checks in transit,
less the aggregate amount of all outstanding and unpaid checks issued by or on behalf of any of the Acquired Companies.

“CERCLA” means the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund
Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.

“Certificate” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(a).

“Certificate of Merger” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04.

“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.

“Closing Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.

“Closing Merger Consideration” means the Enterprise Value, plus (a) the Estimated Working Capital Adjustment (which may be a positive or
negative number), minus (b) the amount, if any, by which Estimated Cash is less than $1,000,000 (and otherwise $0), minus (c) the amount of Estimated

Indebtedness, minus (d) the amount of Estimated Transaction Expenses, minus (e) the Indemnification Escrow Amount, minus (f) the Integration Cost
Escrow Amount, minus and (g) the Stockholder Representative Expense Amount.

“Closing Per Share Merger Consideration” means, with respect to each share of Capital Stock, the amount of Closing Merger Consideration, if
any, to be distributed with respect to such share of Capital Stock, as set forth on the Consideration Spreadsheet. For the avoidance of doubt, the Closing Per
Share Merger Consideration with respect to shares of a class or series of Capital Stock may be zero ($0.00).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Common Stock” means the common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Company Board” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Company Board Recommendation” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02(b).

“Company Charter Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03.

“Company Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that is owned by any Acquired Company.



“Company IP Agreements” means all licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue,
permissions and other Contracts (including any right to receive or obligation to pay royalties or any other consideration), whether written or oral, relating to
Intellectual Property to which an Acquired Company is a party, beneficiary or otherwise bound.

“Company IP Registrations” means all Company Intellectual Property that is subject to any issuance registration, application or other filing by, to
or with any Governmental Authority or authorized private registrar in any jurisdiction, including registered trademarks, domain names and copyrights, issued
and reissued patents and pending applications for any of the foregoing.

“Confidential Information” means all information not generally known to the public, in spoken, printed, electronic or any other form or medium,
relating directly or indirectly to: business processes, practices, methods, policies, plans, publications, documents, research, operations, services, strategies,
techniques, designs, agreements, contracts, transactions, negotiations, know-how, trade secrets, computer software, applications or systems, work-in-process,
records, systems, materials, prospect information, client information, customer information, supplier information, vendor information, financial information,
marketing information, pricing information, staffing and personnel information, employee lists, developments, reports, security procedures, graphics, market
studies and competition information, notes, inventions, original works of authorship and discoveries of the Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation
or their respective businesses or any existing or prospective client, customer, supplier or other associated third party of the Parent, Merger Sub or the
Surviving Corporation. Confidential Information also includes other information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, or that
would otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the context and circumstances in which the information is known or used.

“Consideration Spreadsheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.17(a).

“Contracts” means all contracts, leases, deeds, mortgages, licenses, instruments, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and
all other agreements and legally binding commitments and arrangements, whether written or oral.

“Current Assets” means all current assets of the Acquired Companies, determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, “Current Assets” shall exclude Cash and deferred Tax assets, but shall include all prepaid Taxes, such as prepaid property taxes or similar
Taxes, for which Parent will receive the benefit following the Closing.

“Current Liabilities” means all current liabilities of the Acquired Companies, determined in accordance the Accounting Principles.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining Estimated Working Capital, “Current Liabilities” shall not include any items included as
Estimated Indebtedness or Estimated Transaction Expenses, and for purposes of determining Actual Working Capital, “Current Liabilities” shall not include
any items included as Actual Indebtedness or Actual Transaction Expenses.

“Deductible” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(a).

“D&O Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(a).

“D&O Tail Policy” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(c).

“DGCL” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Direct Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(c).



“Disclosure Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules delivered by the Company and Parent concurrently with the execution and delivery of this
Agreement.

“Disputed Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(iii).
“Dissenting Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10.
“Distribution Agent” means Citibank, N.A.

“Distribution Agent Agreement” means the Distribution Agent Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among Parent, the Stockholder
Representative and the Distribution Agent, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit E.

“Dollars or $” means the lawful currency of the United States.
“Effective Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04.

“Employee Bonus Plan” means that certain 2016 Change of Control Incentive Plan of the Company, effective as of immediately prior to the
Closing, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

“Encumbrance” means any charge, community property interest, pledge, equitable interest, lien (statutory or other), option, security interest,
mortgage, easement, encroachment, right of way, right of first refusal, or restriction of any kind, including any restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of
income or exercise of any other attribute of ownership.

“Enterprise Value” means $97,500,000.

“Environmental Attributes” means any emissions and renewable energy credits, energy conservation credits, benefits, offsets and allowances,
emission reduction credits or words of similar import or regulatory effect (including emissions reduction credits or allowances under all applicable emission
trading, compliance or budget programs, or any other federal, state or regional emission, renewable energy or energy conservation trading or budget program)
that have been held, allocated to or acquired for the development, construction, ownership, lease, operation, use or maintenance of the Acquired Companies
as of: (a) the date of this Agreement; and (b) future years for which allocations have been established and are in effect as of the date of this Agreement.

“Environmental Claim” means any Action, Governmental Order, lien, fine, penalty, or, as to each, any settlement or judgment arising therefrom, by
or from any Person alleging liability of whatever kind or nature (including liability or responsibility for the costs of enforcement proceedings, investigations,
cleanup, governmental response, removal or remediation, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries, medical monitoring, penalties,
contribution, indemnification and injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or resulting from: (a) the presence, Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous
Materials; or (b) any actual or alleged non-compliance with any Environmental Law or term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

“Environmental Law” means any applicable Law, and any Governmental Order or binding agreement with any Governmental Authority: (a)
relating to pollution (or the cleanup thereof) or the protection of natural resources, endangered or threatened species, human health or safety, or the
environment (including ambient air, soil, surface water or groundwater, or subsurface strata); or (b) concerning the presence of, exposure to, or the
management, manufacture, use, containment, storage, recycling, reclamation, reuse, treatment, generation, discharge, transportation, processing, production,
disposal or remediation of any Hazardous Materials. The term “Environmental Law” includes, without limitation, the following (including their implementing
regulations and any state analogs): the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the



Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.; the Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.; the Federal Water
Pollution Control Act of 1972, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.; the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, as
amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq.; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq.; the Clean Air Act of
1966, as amended by the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.; and the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended,
29 U.S.C. §8 651 et seq.

“Environmental Notice” means any written directive, notice of violation or infraction, or notice respecting any Environmental Claim relating to
actual or alleged non-compliance with any Environmental Law or any term or condition of any Environmental Permit.

“Environmental Permit” means any Permit, letter, clearance, consent, waiver, closure, exemption, decision or other action required under or issued,
granted, given, authorized by or made pursuant to Environmental Law.

“Equity Right” means any warrant, option, convertible note, acquisition right or other right exercisable for, convertible into or exchangeable for
Capital Stock or any other equity securities of any Acquired Company, other than the Options.

“Equity Right Termination Agreement” means a termination agreement substantially in the form attached as Exhibit B.
“Equity Right Holder” means a holder of an Equity Right.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means all employers (whether or not incorporated) that would be treated together with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as
a “single employer” within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code.

“Escrow Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among Parent, the Stockholder Representative and the
Escrow Agent, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C.

“Escrow Funds” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b).

“Estimated Cash” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).

“Estimated Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).
“Estimated Transaction Expenses” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).
“Estimated Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(a).

“Estimated Working Capital Adjustment” means Estimated Working Capital, minus Target Working Capital.

“Exclusivity Fee Cancellation Agreement” means that certain Exclusivity Fee Cancellation Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between
Parent and the Company.



“FDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.23.
“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Fundamental Representations” mean the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.01, Section 3.02(a), Section 3.04, Section 3.29,
Section 4.01 and Section 4.04.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.
“Government Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a)(viii).

“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, provincial, local or foreign government or political subdivision thereof, or any agency, court
or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision either with jurisdiction over any activities of any party to this Agreement or where a party to
this Agreement conducts business, or any arbitrator, court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction.

“Governmental Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination or award entered by or with any
Governmental Authority.

“Hazardous Materials” means: (a) any material, substance, chemical, waste, product, derivative, compound, mixture, solid, liquid, mineral or gas,
in each case, whether naturally occurring or manmade, that is hazardous, acutely hazardous, toxic, or words of similar import or regulatory effect under
Environmental Laws; and (b) any petroleum or petroleum-derived products, radon, radioactive materials or wastes, asbestos in any form, lead or lead-
containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, and polychlorinated biphenyls.

“Indebtedness” means, with respect to the Acquired Companies, as of any date of determination and without duplication, all (a) indebtedness for
borrowed money; (b) obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (c) long or short-term obligations evidenced by any note, bond,
debenture or other instrument; (d) obligations under any interest rate, currency swap or other hedging agreement or arrangement; (e) capital lease obligations;
(f) reimbursement obligations under any letter of credit, banker’s acceptance or similar credit transaction, to the extent drawn; (g) guarantees made by an
Acquired Company on behalf of any third party in respect of any obligation of the kind referred to in the foregoing clauses (a) through (f); (h) unpaid interest,
prepayment penalties, premiums, costs and fees that would arise or become due as a result of the prepayment of any of the obligations referred to in the
foregoing clauses (a) through (g).

“Indemnifiable Taxes” means (a) all Taxes of the Acquired Companies for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods; (b) all Taxes of any member of an affiliated,
consolidated, combined or unitary group of which any Acquired Company (or any predecessor of any Acquired Company) is or was a member on or prior to
the Closing Date by reason of a liability under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or any comparable provisions of foreign, state or local Law; and (c) all
Taxes of another Person imposed on any of the Acquired Companies arising under the principles of transferee or successor liability or by reason of a Tax
Sharing Agreement or any contract providing for the payment of any Taxes of another person, in each case, relating to an event or transaction occurring
before the Closing Date; provided, that, the defined term Indemnifiable Taxes shall not include any Taxes to the extent the Tax-related Loss in question results
from Parent’s violation of Section 6.01(c).

“Indemnification Escrow Amount” means $9,750,000.

“Indemnification Escrow Fund” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(a).



“Indemnification Obligation Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to each Priority Preferred Stockholder that executes the Merger Agreement on
the Closing Date, and each Priority Preferred Stockholder that executes a joinder to the Merger Agreement following the Closing Date (other than any such
joinder that is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable), the quotient (expressed as a percentage) of (i) such Priority Preferred
Stockholders’ pro rata share of the Closing Merger Consideration divided by, (ii) the Closing Merger Consideration.

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05.

“Independent Accountant” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(iii).

“Insurance Policies” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.16.

“Integration Cost Escrow Amount” means $5,000,000.

“Integration Cost Escrow Fund” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b).

“Integration Cost Target” means $15,000,000.

“Integration Costs” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18(a).

“Integration Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.18(a).

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property and industrial property rights and assets, and all rights, interests and protections that are
associated with, similar to, or required for the exercise of, any of the foregoing, however arising, pursuant to the Laws of any jurisdiction throughout the
world, whether registered or unregistered, including any and all: (a) trademarks, service marks, trade names, brand names, logos, trade dress, design rights
and other similar designations of source, sponsorship, association or origin, together with the goodwill connected with the use of and symbolized by, and all
registrations, applications and renewals for, any of the foregoing; (b) internet domain names, whether or not trademarks, registered in any top-level domain by
any authorized private registrar or Governmental Authority, web addresses, web pages, websites and related content, accounts with Twitter, Facebook and
other social media companies and the content found thereon and related thereto, and URLs; (c) works of authorship, expressions, designs and design
registrations, whether or not copyrightable, including copyrights, author, performer, moral and neighboring rights, and all registrations, applications for
registration and renewals of such copyrights; (d) inventions, discoveries, trade secrets, business and technical information and know-how, databases, data
collections and other confidential and proprietary information and all rights therein; (e) patents (including all reissues, divisionals, provisionals, continuations
and continuations-in-part, re-examinations, renewals, substitutions and extensions thereof), patent applications, and other patent rights and any other
Governmental Authority-issued indicia of invention ownership (including inventor’s certificates, petty patents and patent utility models); and (f) software and
firmware, including data files, source code, object code, application programming interfaces, architecture, files, records, schematics, computerized databases
and other related specifications and documentation; and (g) mask works.

“Interim Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Interim Balance Sheet Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Interim Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.06.

“Key Employees” means Greg Barrett, Rick Short and Scott Lynch.



“Knowledge” means, when used with respect to the Company or the Acquired Companies, the actual knowledge of Greg Barrett, Rick Short, Dan
Balbierz, Linda Lechner and Cindee Van Vleck, and the knowledge that each such person would reasonably be expected to obtain in the course of performing
his or her duties with the Acquired Companies, or after due inquiry of their respective direct reports or reasonable investigation.

“Law” means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, order, constitution, treaty, common law, judgment, decree, other requirement or rule
of law of any Governmental Authority.

“Letter of Transmittal” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(b).

“Losses” means losses, damages, liabilities, deficiencies, Actions, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and the cost of enforcing any right to indemnification hereunder; provided, however, that “Losses” shall not include exemplary or
punitive damages, except to the extent actually awarded to a Governmental Authority or other third party.

“Majority Holder” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01(b).

“Management Bonus Plan” means that certain 2016 Management Bonus Plan of the Company, effective as of immediately prior to the Closing, a
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D.

“Material Adverse Effect” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that is, or would reasonably be expected to become, individually
or in the aggregate, materially adverse to (a) the business, results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Acquired Companies (taken
as a whole), or (b) the ability of the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis; provided, however, that “Material
Adverse Effect” shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, directly or indirectly, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic
or political conditions; (ii) conditions generally affecting the industries in which any Acquired Company operates; (iii) any changes in financial or securities
markets in general; (iv) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (v) any action required or
permitted by this Agreement; (vi) any changes in applicable Laws or accounting rules, including GAAP; (vii) the announcement, pendency or completion of
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (viii) the failure of any of the Acquired Companies to meet or achieve any projection or forecast;
provided, further, that any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) immediately above shall be taken into account in
determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact,
condition or change has, or would reasonably be expected to have, a disproportionate effect on the Acquired Companies (taken as a whole) compared to other
participants in the industries in which any Acquired Company conducts its businesses.

“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.09(a).

“Material Customers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).

“Material Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(b).

“Merger” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.

“Merger Consideration” means the Closing Merger Consideration, together with those portions of (i) the Escrow Funds, (ii) the Stockholder
Representative Expense Fund and (iii) the Post-Closing Adjustment (if any) that the Priority Preferred Stockholders become entitled to receive pursuant to the

terms of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

“Merger Sub” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.



“Non-Terminating Right” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(b)(ix).
“Non-U.S. Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(a).

“Off-The-Shelf Agreements” means generally commercially available off-the-shelf software licenses for Intellectual Property under which the
annual recurring fees any Acquired Company is required to pay for use of such Intellectual Property are less than $10,000.

“Option” means any option to purchase Company Capital Stock granted under a Stock Option Plan and still outstanding as of immediately prior to
the Effective Time.

“Optionholder” means a holder of an Option.

“Organizational Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(b).
“Parent” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Parent Closing Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(b).
“Parent Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.02.

“Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, registrations, certificates, variances and similar rights obtained, or
required to be obtained, from Governmental Authorities.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means those items set forth in Section 1 of the Disclosure Schedules; liens for Taxes not yet delinquent; liens for Taxes
the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and which are disclosed in Section 1 of the Disclosure Schedule;
mechanics, carriers’, workmen’s, repairmen’s or other like liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or amounts
that are not delinquent and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the Acquired Companies; or easements, rights of way,
zoning ordinances and other similar encumbrances affecting Real Property which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the
Acquired Companies.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority, unincorporated
organization, trust, association or other entity.

“Personal Information” means the type of information regulated by Privacy Laws and collected, used, disclosed or retained by any Acquired
Company such as an individual’s name, address, age, gender, identification number, family status, citizenship, employment, assets, liabilities, source of funds,

payment records, credit information, personal references and health records.

“Post-Closing Adjustment” shall be an amount equal to the Adjusted Closing Merger Consideration, minus the Closing Merger Consideration.

“Post-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period beginning after the Closing Date and, with respect to any taxable period beginning before and
ending after the Closing Date, the portion of such taxable period beginning after the Closing Date.

“Post-Closing Taxes” means Taxes of the Acquired Companies for any Post-Closing Tax Period.

“Pre-Closing Tax Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date and, with respect to any taxable period beginning before
and ending after the Closing Date, the portion of such taxable period ending on and including the Closing Date.
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“Pre-Closing Taxes” means Taxes of the Acquired Companies for any Pre-Closing Tax Period.

“Preferred Stock” means the preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company, which is designated Series A Preferred Stock, Series B
Preferred Stock, Series C Preferred Stock, Series D Preferred Stock, Series E Preferred Stock and Series F Preferred Stock.

“Preferred Stockholder” means a holder of Preferred Stock.
“Priority Preferred Stock” means the Series E Preferred Stock and the Series F Preferred Stock.
“Priority Preferred Stockholder” means a holder of Priority Preferred Stock.

“Privacy Laws” means all applicable Laws of any nation in which any Acquired Company operates governing the collection, use, disclosure and
retention of Personal Information.

“Pro Rata Share” means, with respect to any Priority Preferred Stockholder, such Person’s pro rata portion of the (i) Closing Merger Consideration,
(ii) Post-Closing Adjustment, (iii) returned Indemnification Escrow Funds, (iv) returned Integration Cost Escrow Funds or (v) returned Seller Representative
Expense Funds, as applicable.

“Qualified Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.20(c).

“R&W Insurance Policy” means a buyer-side representations and warranties insurance policy issued by AIG for the benefit of Parent and any
additional insureds named by Parent with a retention amount equal to the R&W Insurance Policy Retention Amount and a coverage limit equal to the R&W
Insurance Policy Coverage Limit.

“R&W Insurance Policy Coverage Limit” means $9,750,000.

“R&W Insurance Policy Retention Amount” means $1,462,500.

“Real Property” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(a).

“Release” means any actual or threatened release, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching,
dumping, abandonment, disposing or allowing to escape or migrate into or through the environment (including, without limitation, ambient air (indoor or
outdoor), surface water, groundwater, land surface or subsurface strata or within any building, structure, facility or fixture).

“Repaid Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(a)(i).

“Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel, accountants
and other agents of such Person.

“Representative Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.01(c).
“Requisite Company Vote” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02(a).
“Resolution Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(ii).
“Review Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(i).

“Stockholder Representative Expense Amount” means $250,000.
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“Stockholder Representative Expense Fund” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(c).

“Statement of Objections” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(ii).

“Stock Option Plan” means each of the 2004 Stock Plan and the 2014 Stock Plan of the Company.

“Stockholders” means the holders of Capital Stock.

“Stockholder Indemnitees” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.03.

“Stockholder Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b).

“Stockholder Representative” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Straddle Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.03.

“Subsidiaries” means, when used with respect to any party, any corporation or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, a
majority of the securities or other interests of which having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or others
performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such party or by any one or
more of its subsidiaries, or by such party and one or more of its subsidiaries.

“Surviving Corporation” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01.

“Target Working Capital” means $3,500,000.

“Taxes” means all federal, state, local, foreign and other income, gross receipts, sales, use, production, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise,
registration, profits, license, lease, service, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment, estimated, excise, severance, environmental, stamp,
occupation, property (real or personal), windfall profits, customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any
interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties.

“Tax Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.04.

“Tax Return” means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement or other document relating to Taxes, including
any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

“Tax Sharing Agreement” means any agreement the primary purpose of which is (a) to allocate responsibility with respect to the payment of any
Tax liabilities of any Person or (b) for the sharing or payment for any Tax attributes of any Person.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.05(a).

“Transaction Expenses” means, as of any date of determination and without duplication, all unpaid fees and expenses incurred by the Acquired
Companies or for which any Acquired Company is liable as of the Closing in connection with the preparation, negotiation and execution of this Agreement
and the Ancillary Documents, and the performance and consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including
(a) amounts payable pursuant to the Employee Bonus Plan, (b) any Taxes or other amounts required to be paid, withheld or contributed by the Acquired
Companies under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”), Medicare or other similar Laws related to any amounts
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payable pursuant to the Employee Bonus Plan, (c) the cost of obtaining the D&O Tail Policy, (d) the amount payable to AIG to obtain the R&W Insurance
Policy, and (e) three (3) months of salary, bonus, benefits and other monetary compensation for each of the Key Employees and any Taxes or other amounts
required to be paid, withheld or contributed by the Acquired Companies under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (“FICA”), Medicare or other similar
Laws in respect of such salary continuation. For the avoidance of doubt, “Transaction Expenses” shall not include any amounts payable pursuant to the
Management Bonus Plan.

“Undisputed Amounts” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.16(c)(iii).
“Union” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(b).

“WARN Act” means the federal Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, and similar state, local and foreign laws related to
plant closings, relocations, and mass layoffs.

“Working Capital” means, as of any date of determination, Current Assets minus Current Liabilities.

“Written Consent” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(a).

ARTICLE II
THE MERGER

Section 2.01 The Merger.

On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, (a) Merger Sub will
merge with and into the Company, and (b) the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease and the Company will continue its corporate existence
under the DGCL as the surviving corporation in the Merger (sometimes referred to herein as the “Surviving Corporation”).

Section 2.02 Closing.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) shall take place at 10:00 a.m., Mountain Time, on
the date of this Agreement, at the offices of Parr Brown Gee & Loveless, a professional corporation, 101 South 200 East, Suite 700, Salt Lake City, Utah
84111, or at such other time or on such other date or at such other place as the Company and Parent may mutually agree upon in writing (the day on which the
Closing takes place being the “Closing Date”).

Section 2.03 Repaid Indebtedness and Company Transaction Expenses; Closing Deliverables.

(a) Repaid Indebtedness and Company Transaction Expenses.

(i) Itis contemplated by the parties that, contemporaneously with the Closing, all Indebtedness for borrowed money of the Acquired
Companies as of immediately prior to the Closing set forth on the Repaid Indebtedness Schedule by the Company (the “Repaid Indebtedness”), will be
fully repaid and that such repayment will be funded by Parent. The Company has delivered to Parent the Repaid Indebtedness Schedule along with customary
payoff letters in respect of all Repaid Indebtedness to be effective upon the Closing, which payoff letters (A) acknowledge the aggregate princ